1986

Joan H. Elton v. Curtis Beck Elton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENT ON APPEAL

1. Judge Rigtrup erred in the original Divorce Decree in failing to grant alimony to the Plaintiff, wife of the Defendant.

2. Judge Rigtrup erred in not granting a new trial in the divorce proceeding between Plaintiff and Defendant or in the alternative amending the Judgment and altering the Decree of Divorce in conformity with the provisions of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59(a) and 59(e) in light of the Appellant's demonstration of the disproportionate division of assets at the time of the hearing on the Motion for the new trial or alternatively the Motion to amend the existing Judgment and Decree of Divorce. The Appellant argues this error was a clear abuse of discretion and that the evidence was insufficient to support the Judgment and Decree entered by the Court.

3. Judge Rigtrup erred in failing to grant a new trial because the Defendant had not had her day in Court alleging first a physical incapacity ie a hearing loss which prevented her from understanding the nature of the proceedings involved in the judicial process at the time set for the trial on the merits and secondly, in that default was entered in a summary form of proceeding as a result of proffer of evidence and stipulation which was subsequently disputed by the Affidavit of the Plaintiff and where the Affidavit of Plaintiff disputed the foundation for this summary proceeding, the summary proceeding as a Motion for Summary Judgment requires the Court to view the evidence in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff evidencing that no genuine issue of material fact exists in order to be sustained by the Court. The Appellant argues, was not the case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 19th day of March 1985, before the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, District Judge in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Tooele County, State of Utah, the case of Joan H. Elton v. Curtis Beck Elton came on for trial. Joan Elton was present with her attorney E.H. Fankhauser and Curtis Beck Elton was present with his attorney B.L. Dart.

Evidence was submitted by stipulation read into the record by the parties. The Court thereafter accepted the stipulation of the parties as read into the record, took testimony concerning grounds and jurisdiction and authorized the entry of a Decree of Divorce, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in conformity with the stipulation and the testimony.

A Decree of Divorce was signed by Judge Rigtrup and filed in Tooele County Court Clerk's office on the 16th day of April 1985. A motion for a new trial or in the alternative a motion to amend the judgment in conformity with the provisions of Rule 59(a) and 59(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was filed timely with the Court and on the 20th day of May 1985 a hearing was held on Plaintiff's motion as stated, before the Honorable Judge Rigtrup resulting in an Order subsequently signed by Judge Rigtrup denying both motions. From this Order and from the Order in the form of the existing Decree of Divorce this appeal is taken.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Summary of the Arguments essentially in this case is that the Appellant suggests that first Judge Rigtrup was in error in not granting

alimony to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff has a significant hearing loss requiring the use of a mechanical hearing aid and finding it impossible to hear without the same. The Judge had a duty to prevent the Plaintiff from becoming a public charge and in allowing the Plaintiff to live as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during the course of the marriage which duty he failed to fulfill by failing to grant alimony. Secondly, the Appellant suggests that Judge Rigtrup erred in failing to grant a new trial because of the Appellant's clear demonstration of a disproportionate division of assets per the existing Decree of Divorce. The Appellant asserts this to be a clear abuse of discretion and asserts that the evidence is insufficient to support the distribution of assets in the form and format provided by the Decree of Divorce. The Appellant asserts that the demonstration of this disproportionate division of assets occurred clearly at the time of the hearing on the Appellant's Motion for a New Trial or in the alternative a Motion to amend the Judgment and Decree of Divorce. Thirdly, the Appellant argues that the nature of this divorce proceeding was a summary proceeding and that in a summary proceeding there can be no foundation to uphold judgment on a summary proceeding where there is evidence of a dispute as to a material fact or an issue of material fact left unresolved between the parties. The Decree having been founded upon proffers and an oral stipulation read into the record is subject to attack by the presentation in a timely fashion of evidence of a disputed material fact which presentation was properly made to Judge Rigtrup.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT ALIMONY
TO THE PLAINTIFF WIFE

In the case of Gramme v. Gramme, 587 P2d 144 (Utah, 1978), at page 147 the Supreme Court of the State of Utah said:

"The purpose of alimony is to provide post marital support; it is intended neither as a penalty imposed on the husband nor as a reward granted to the wife. Its function is to provide support for the wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during the marriage and to prevent her from becoming a public charge. Important criteria in determining a reasonable award for support and maintenance are the financial conditions and needs of the wife, considering her station in life; her ability to produce sufficient income for herself; and the ability of the husband to provide support."

In our case at bar the Appellant, as is affirmed in her sworn Affidavit submitted with her Motion for a New Trial, wears a hearing aid as a result of a severe hearing deficiency. The Appellant in this Affidavit avers an incapacity to hear without this hearing aid and further makes the averment that she did not have to wear a hearing aid before she was physically abused during the course of her marriage by her husband and has since that time needed the assistance of this mechanical device in order to hear. The evidence before the Court showed a substantial capacity for income production on the part of the Defendant husband and a very limited capacity for income production on the part of the Plaintiff wife. Further these affirmations as indicated herein and in the Affidavit of the Plaintiff would show or tend to establish a cause or one of the potential causes for this disproportionate earning capacity and for a genuine risk evident of the Plaintiff ultimately

becoming a public charge and failing to maintain herself in a financial position consummate with that position maintained during the course of her marriage. In fact no evidence exists to the contrary. No evidence exists that would give rise to any presumption that the Plaintiff wife, in this case Appellant before this Court, will have any ability to sustain herself as nearly as possible to the standard of living which she enjoyed during the course of the marriage.

With these arguments having been presented to Judge Rigtrup in the Motion for a New Trial and the Motion alternatively to Amend the Judgment and Decree of Divorce particularly with the allegation of a reduced earning capacity predicated upon the physical abuse of the wife by the husband during the course of the marriage, equity would demand a review of the question of an entitlement to alimony above and beyond the Plaintiff's legal right to acquire the same. This concept was not persuasive to Judge Rigtrup and the Appellant respectfully submits that this was a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the Court and an error at law.

POINT II

IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY JUDGE RIGTRUP
IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL OR AMEND THE
JUDGMENT AND DECREE OF DIVORCE IN LIGHT OF THE
APPELLANT'S DEMONSTRATION OF A DISPROPORTIONATE
DIVISION OF ASSETS

In the case of English v. English , 565 P2d 409 (Utah 1977) at Page 410 the Court says:

"The Trial Court in a divorce action, has considerable latitude of discretion in adjusting financial and property interest. A party appealing therefrom has the burden to prove there was a misunderstanding or

misapplication of the law resulting in a substantial and prejudicial error; or the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings; or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion."

This case has resulted in just such a serious inequity as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. The evidence submitted by Affidavit and proffered to the Court in the hearing held on the 20th day of May 1985 before the Honorable Judge Kenneth Rigtrup evidences a gross disparity in the division of the marital estate. Without reciting the nature of that gross disparity calling to the Court's attention the language of the Affidavit supporting the Motion for a New Trial and the language contained on pages 2 through 8 of the transcript of the hearing of May 20, 1985, evidences just such inappropriate and grossly disproportionate division of assets. Where such evidence was presented to the Court in a timely fashion a proper procedural review process and where such evidence was as clearly demonstrable, it was an error at law for Judge Rigtrup to fail to grant a new hearing on the merits or for purposes of amending the existing judgment or simply granting a new trial.

The nature of equity would require that basically the marital estate be divided equally between the parties as is the traditional route undertaken by the trial courts in this state and sustained by the Supreme Court of the State of Utah. As the English case evidences considerable latitude and discretion is allowed but grossly disproportionate divisions of the marital estate are not envisioned within this latitude. The facts allege a four to one and three to one ratio in favor of the Defendant/Respondent in the division of the marital estate. Allegations of that kind of disproportionate division are so great that the Court should be charged with the responsibility

of investigating by law and by equity. That investigation properly would take the step of a hearing on the merits in the form of either a new trial or a hearing to determine a more appropriate distribution in the form of an Amended Judgment and Decree.

POINT III

A DEFAULT DIVORCE HEARING ATTAINS THE
SUBSTANTIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF A SUMMARY
PROCEEDING AND SUMMARY PROCEEDINGS AND
JUDGMENTS RENDERED IN SUMMARY PROCEEDINGS
REQUIRE NO ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT LEFT
BETWEEN THE PARTIES

To sustain a Motion for Summary Judgment which is in essence what this Court will be asked to do by the Respondent on appeal, the pleadings, evidence, admissions and inferences should be most favorably reviewed from the point of view of the party opposing the entry of the Summary Judgment or the sustaining review of the Summary Judgment and must show that there is no issue of material fact. See C. Frederick May and Company v. Dunn , 368 P2d 266 (Utah 1962) and Bowen v. Riverton City , 656 P2d 434 (Utah 1982).

Argumentatively even with a stipulation read into the record by the parties and agreed to by the parties before the Judge without the introduction of demonstrative evidence ie. testimony and documentary evidence the Court is in essence engaged in the rendering of a Summary Judgment from what essentially amounts to proffers by the parties and/or their counsel. For the protection of the rights of the parties where within a timely fashion particularly within the time provided for in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for the filing of a Motion for a New Trial, one or more of the parties represents evidence as in the form of a sworn affidavit of the

existence of an outstanding issue of material fact the Court cannot sustain, grant or endorse the Summary Judgment. That is exactly what took place in this case. The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly remarked in its decisions in the past that the existence of issues of material fact will preclude the entry of a Summary Judgment and even though we are analogizing the traditional conduct of a Motion for Summary Judgment in a law and motion setting to the summary disposition of a case in default divorce setting the analogy is well formed. This client, the Appellant herein has not had her day in Court and the Decree and Findings have been based upon, again what essentially amounts to proffers, representations, and not upon demonstrative evidence or quantitative amounts of sworn testimony.