1986

Joan H. Elton v. Curtis Beck Elton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although appellant is dissatisfied with the ruling of the Court below denying her motion for a new trial or in the alternative to amend the judgment of her Decree of Divorce, that court was in an advantageous position to receive the evidence presented, and to become acquainted with the parties' problems

and the totality of the circumstances relating to the issues. Despite the subjective dissatisfaction of one party to a divorce action, unless there is a clear showing of misapplication of the law or abuse of discretion, then the ruling of the trial court in awarding a Decree of Divorce should not be disturbed. Eastman v. Eastman, 558 P.2d 514 (Utah 1976). This standard does not significantly vary where the court below has had the opportunity to reconsider its judgment upon a Rule 59 motion for a new trial or in the alternative to amend the judgment. The ruling of the court below will be disturbed only where there is a clear abuse of discretion. Lembach v. Cox, 639 P.2d 197 (Utah 1981).

In the present case, appellant has utterly failed to show a misapplication of the law or a clear abuse of discretion by the court below. Although divorce proceedings are equitable in nature, when a decree of divorce is based upon a property settlement sanctioned by the court, equity is not available to reinstate rights and privileges voluntarily contracted away. Only under the most compelling circumstances will there be an abrogation of such an agreement and the judgment based thereon. Land v. Land, 605 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1980); Despain v. Despain, 610 P.2d 1303 (Utah 1980). The question as to whether appellant agreed to and should be bound by her settlement agreement was one for the trial court to determine within its discretion. Klein v. Klein, 544 P.2d 472 (Utah 1975).

Here, the evidence clearly shows that appellant could have litigated any issues of alimony and property, but instead entered into a settlement agreement at the time set for trial of those issues. She heard, understood, and consented to be bound by the terms of her settlement agreement. That settlement agreement was accepted and approved by the court below under circumstances where the trial court had an opportunity to consider the representations of the parties' counsel on the issues to be litigated. The Decree of Divorce incorporated the parties' settlement agreement. Though appellant asserts a grossly disproportionate division of the parties' assets, her assertion is unfounded and the evidence fails to show that the division was unfair. There are simply no compelling reasons to disturb the sanctity of appellant's settlement agreement or the judgment of the court below incorporating the same. The court below properly exercised its discretion, in view of the evidence presented, in refusing to abrogate the provisions of appellant's settlement agreement.

Nor does the weight of the evidence presented to the court below support any ground for a new trial or an amendment of the Decree of Divorce. There was clearly no irregularity in the divorce proceedings or abuse of discretion by the Court below which might have prevented appellant from having a fair hearing on the issues had she chosen to do so. Although appellant

asserted a physical disability as grounds for her Rule 59 Motion, there is firm evidence that the disability was known by appellant prior to trial and in no way interfered with her opportunity for a fair hearing. Further, the parties' assets were known to appellant prior to the day of trial in this matter, and though appellant now disputes their values she had ample opportunity to determine their value prior to trial and could have produced evidence as to their values at that time. Any accident or surprise to appellant could with ordinary prudence have been guarded against. Any newly discovered evidence could with reasonable diligence have been discovered and produced at trial had appellant chosen to do so.

Appellant's attempted analogy between summary proceedings and consent judgments is misplaced and there is no authority at law to support it. Appellant had her opportunity to fully litigate any issues in dispute but on the day of trial chose instead to enter into a settlement agreement disposing of all issues. This is sufficient evidence justifying the judgment of the court below. The decision of the trial court is in accord with the law in upholding the sanctity of settlement agreements and judgments based thereon. Land, supra; Despain, supra.

Appellant has not met her burden of showing misapplication of the law. Further, she has utterly failed to show a clear abuse of discretion to such a degree that the

judgment of the Court below and its Order denying appellant her Rule 59 motion are manifestly unfair and inequitable.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE CONSIDERED AWARD AND ORDERS OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE PRESUMED PROPER AND SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED ABSENT A CLEAR SHOWING BY APPELLANT THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION OR WAS MISTAKEN AS TO THE APPLICABLE LAW.

It is clear from appellant's brief that she is dissatisfied with Judge Rigtrup's Order denying her Motion For a New Trial or in the alternative To Amend the Judgment of her Decree of Divorce. That Decree of Divorce, however, approved and incorporated the provisions of her settlement agreement, with which appellant has evidently become dissatisfied and in effect now desires to revise. It is not unusual that a party to the inherently stressful process of divorce becomes dissatisfied with the rulings of the trial court, however that fact alone is not indicative of the propriety and merits of those rulings.

This Court has on innumerable occasions held that where a divorce action is equitable in nature, the ruling of the trial judge is favored with a presumption of propriety and accuracy. It is only in those few instances in which the appellant can clearly demonstrate a manifest abuse of discretion or misapplication of law, such that the orders of the trial court are

inequitable in light of the circumstances of the case, that the considered judgment of the trial judge will be disturbed. Such a position is logically grounded upon the advantaged position of the trial court, which has observed the witnesses, received evidence presented on the issues and become acquainted with the parties problems and the circumstances relating to the issues.

As observed in Eastman v. Eastman, 558 P.2d 514 (Utah 1976):

We have many times stated that even though proceedings in divorce cases are equitable, in which this Court may review the evidence, due to the prerogative and advantaged position of the trial court, we give considerable deference to his findings and judgment; and we do not disturb them unless the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or he has abused his discretion or misapplied principles of law.

558 P.2d at 516 (footnote citation omitted).

In view of the considerable discretion accorded to the trial judge and this Court's requirements that a clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of law be demonstrated as a condition precedent to any substitution of the trial judge's ruling, the burden is on the party dissatisfied with the trial court's decision to demonstrate such error. English v. English, 565 P. 2d 409 (Utah 1977). As recently summarized in Christensen v. Christensen, 628 P. 2d 1279 (Utah 1981):

On review, this Court will accord considerable deference to the judgment of the trial court due to its advantaged position and will not disturb the action of that court unless the

evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or the trial court abused its discretion or misapplied principles of law...

628 P.2d at 1299 (footnote citation omitted).

Nor does this standard of review significantly vary merely because appellant faults the decision of the trial court in denying a Rule 59 motion for a new trial or in the alternative to amend its judgment. As stated in Lembach v. Cox, 639 P. 2d 197 (Utah 1981):

...the trial court has a broad discretion... and...his ruling...should not be overturned unless it appears that his action was arbitrary, or that it clearly transgressed any reasonable bounds of discretion.

639 P.2d at 201 (footnote citation omitted).

Accordingly, the judgment of the Court below is presumed valid and will not be disturbed unless appellant has demonstrated that the trial judge has misapplied relevant law to such a degree that the Orders are manifestly unfair and inequitable or has so clearly abused his discretion as to result in substantial prejudice.

POINT II APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF DEMONSTRATING MISAPPLICATION OF LAW OR CLEAR ABUSE OF DISCRETION; THEREFORE THE JUDGMENT AND ORDER ENTERED BELOW SHOULD BE AFFIRMED IN THEIR ENTIRETY.

Appellant, though clearly dissatisfied with the rulings entered by Judge Rigtrup, utterly fails to demonstrate a

misapplication of law rendering the judgment of the Court below manifestly unfair or such a clear abuse of discretion resulting in substantial prejudice.

As this Court has held in Land v. Land, 605 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1980):

...when a decree is based upon a property settlement agreement, forged by the parties and sanctioned by the Court, equity must take such agreement into consideration. Equity is not available to reinstate rights and privileges voluntarily contracted away simply because one has come to regret the bargain made. Accordingly, the law limits the continuing jurisdiction of the Court where a property settlement is incorporated into the decree, and the outright abrogation of the provisions of such an agreement is only resorted to with great reluctance and for compelling reasons.

605 P.2d at 1251 (footnote citation omitted). Despain v. Despain, 610 P.2d 1303 (Utah 1980).

Although appellant asserts in her Brief that she has not had her day in court (Brief of Appellant at 10, 11) she was clearly accorded a full opportunity to litigate every pending issue of her cause of action on the day of trial, including those of alimony and property. Both parties appeared before the trial court on that date with the benefit of counsel. Addendum at A2, T. of March 19, 1985 at 2; Addendum at A51, A66, T. of May 20, 1985 at 9, 24. Instead of proceeding through trial, however, appellant entered into negotiations through her attorney and reached a settlement agreement disposing of all pending issues

including those of alimony and property. Addendum at A2, T. of March 19, 1985 at 2; Addendum at A51, A59, T. of May 20, 1985 at 9, 15. This settlement agreement was sanctioned by the trial court and incorporated in appellant's Decree of Divorce. See Addendum at A15-30.

Nor are there any compelling reasons why appellant's settlement agreement as incorporated into the Decree of Divorce should be abrogated. Appellant heard, understood and assented to the settlement agreement without reservation. She was present with her attorney at the time her settlement agreement was read into the record. Addendum at A2-13, T. of March 19, 1985 at 2-13; Addendum at A39-40. The agreement was stated in clear and precise terms. Appellant interjected more than once as to the particulars of the agreement and otherwise indicated her continuing comprehension of the terms of the agreement. She voiced no objections nor expressed any confusion. Addendum at A4-5, 8, 10, T. of March 19, 1985 at 4-5, 8, 10; Addendum at A2; Addendum at A51-53, T. of May 20, 1985 at 9-11. Although appellant asserted in her motion for a new trial or in the alternative to amend the judgment that she did not hear the proceedings due to a hearing impairment and did not agree to the settlement agreement as read into the record, the transcript belies her assertion:

THE COURT: Mrs. Elton, I assume you've heard what's been read into the record?

MRS. ELTON: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand those terms?

MRS. ELTON: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you agree to be bound by those terms?

MRS. ELTON: Yes.

Addendum at A11; T. of March 19, 1985 at 11. The question as to whether appellant agreed to and should be bound by her settlement agreement was one for the trial court to determine. Klein v. Klein, 544 P.2d 472 (Utah 1975). Clearly under the facts in the present case the trial court properly acted within its descretion in refusing to abrogate the settlement agreement or alter its judgment.

Further, as noted in Klein, supra:

It is the established rule that a stipulation pertaining to matters of divorce and property rights therein, though advisory upon the Court and would usually be followed unless the Court thought it unfair or unreasonable, is not necessarily binding on the Court anyway. It is only a recommendation to be adhered to if the Court believes it to be fair and reasonable.

544 P.2d at 476 (footnote citation omitted).

Here, on the day of trial and before the parties entered into their settlement agreement, the trial court was apprised of the outstanding issues through a pre-trial conference with the parties' attorneys. Addendum at A2, T. of March 19,

1985 at 2. Details relating to distribution of the parties' property were discussed, and afterwards the settlement agreement was reached and read into the record. Addendum at A58-59, T. of May 20, 1985 at 15-16. The settlement agreement was approved by the Court below and incorporated into the Decree of Divorce. In this context the Court below was in an advantageous position to consider the fairness of the settlement agreement in view of representations by counsel for the parties at the pre-trial conference. It was appropriate for the court below to consider what was contained in the settlement agreement in addition to what counsel represented on the issues as part of the totality of the circumstances in determining what will be a just and equitable decree. Klein, supra at 476. Obviously the trial court did not view the settlement agreement as unreasonable. Rather, he approved it and ordered it incorporated into the Decree of Divorce.

Having a further opportunity to reconsider its decision upon appellant's post-trial motion, the trial court was not convinced by appellant's proffers and supporting affidavits that there were other compelling reasons to abrogate the settlement agreement or alter its judgment. Clearly, appellant had every opportunity to litigate issues of alimony and property at trial, had she desired to do so. Although appellant in her brief argues she has suffered a reduced earning capacity due to a

hearing loss during the marriage which places her in risk of becoming a public charge (Brief of Appellant at 6-7), the record is devoid of any evidence to corroborate her self-serving allegations which were disputed by respondent. Appellant admits she was hearing-impaired prior to the parties marriage. Addendum at A49, T. of May 20, 1985 at 7. It was undisputed that she was unemployed at the time of her marriage, receiving disability for her hearing impairment, and is now capable of employment and involved in her family's investment affairs. In addition, she receives a monthly income from the parties' settlement agreement. Addendum at A54-55, T. of May 20, 1985 at 273. There was no compelling reason to alter the Court's order relating to alimony. Neither was there a compelling reason to alter the distribution of the parties' property. Although appellant argues a great disparity in the award, primarily by isolating from the total assets a certain parcel of real property the value of which was disputed (Addendum at A46, T. of May 20, 1985 at 4), she failed to consider the value of other assets she received in relation to the total assets available for distribution between the parties, together with the value of premarital assets and inheritance. Addendum at A50, A54-55, A61, A64-65, T. of May 20, 1985 at 8, 12-13, 19, 22-23. The appellant had the opportunity to litigate the issue of property at trial, the court below considered the property values prior to the parties'

settlement agreement, and its distribution again upon appellant's Rule 59 Motion. The court below was not convinced of any great disparity in the distribution, nor does the evidence clearly indicate any great disparity. Addendum at A57, A58-59, A61, T. of May 20, 1985 at 15, 16-17, 19. The court below, consistent with the latitude of discretion to which it is accorded, properly refused to abrogate the parties' settlement agreement.

Nor was there a clear abuse of discretion by the court below in denying appellant's motion for a new trial or in the alternative to amend the judgment. Appellant has failed to establish any irregularity in the proceedings of the court below which prevented her from having a fair trial. The evidence clearly showed that the "irregularity" in the proceedings of March 19, 1985 as alleged by appellant in support of her motion was merely courteous social discourse between respondent's counsel and the court below, resulting from an unanticipated encounter by respondent's counsel with the trial judge and entirely unrelated to the proceedings between the parties. Addendum at A53-54, A56-57, T. of May 20, 1985 at 11-12, 14-15; Addendum at A2-3. There was no accident or surprise which appellant could not have guarded against. Her hearing impairment had existed for years. Addendum at A49, T. of May 20, 1985 at 7. She knew prior to the proceedings on March 19, 1985 that her hearing aid was malfunctioning and that she had an ear infection.

Addendum at A36. The trial date had been set for several weeks and her attorney was present at the proceedings to represent her interests. She could have communicated her inability to go forward with the proceedings or requested a continuance, but she did neither. Addendum at A66, T. of May 20, 1985 at 24. Contrary to appellant's claimed inability to hear at her trial proceeding as grounds for a new trial or amendment of the judgment under Rule 59, the record discloses that appellant heard, understood, and agreed to the terms of her settlement agreement. Addendum at A11, T. of March 19, 1985 at 11. The evidence clearly disputed appellant's assertion of accident or surprise.

The record is also devoid of any evidence of newly discovered evidence which could not with reasonable diligence have been discovered or produced for trial. If, as appellant asserts, her hearing impairment worsened during the course of her marriage, then any such evidence was known to her prior to her trial date and could have been produced at that time. Appellant does not claim the parties owned any assets which were unknown to her at the time of trial and all of the parties' assets were itemized and distributed in the Decree of Divorce. At this late date, and evidently based on her sole opinion, she merely attempts to dispute the value of those assets, an issue which appellant had ample opportunity during the discovery process of

her divorce action to determine and an opportunity to establish at trial. Her opinion valuation of the assets was disputed by respondent, and through expert testimony he was prepared at trial to establish the value of those assets. Addendum at A50-51, A66, T. of May 20, 1985 at 8-9, 24. Appellant clearly could have discovered and produced at trial all evidence relating to the parties' property. Under similar circumstances this Court has upheld the decision of the trial court in denying appellant's Rule 59 motion. Clissold v. Clissold, 30 Utah 2d 430, 519 P.2d 241 (1974); Tangero v. Marrero, 13 Utah 2d 290, 373 P.2d 390 (1960).

The evidence is clearly sufficiently to justify the judgment of the court below. Where appellant, in the presence of the trial court and with the benefit of her attorney participated in reaching a settlement agreement, heard the agreement, understood it, and agreed to be bound by it. Addendum at A4-5, A8, A10-11, T. of March 19, 1985 at 2, 4-5, 8, 10-11. The court below was justified in entering its judgment upon appellant's stipulation. Though appellant argues in her brief that judgment in a divorce proceeding, as to which all issues in dispute have been stipulated, is a summary proceeding attaining the status of a summary judgment, her attempted analogy is misplaced and has no basis at law. There were no facts or other issues disputed at the divorce trial in this matter; there was

instead an agreement settling the pending litigation. Since no genuine issue of material fact existed, or was claimed to exist, it was entirely appropriate for the court below to enter its judgment in conformity with the parties' agreement. In reviewing the rulings of the court below the standard to be applied by this Court is not, nor could it be, whether a genuine issue of material fact existed at trial. Clearly there were none. Rather, the standard is whether the court below clearly abused its discretion in denying appellant's Rule 59 alternative motion. As clearly shown, supra, the trial judge properly exercised his broad discretion in denying appellant's motion for a new trial or to amend the judgment previously entered.

CONCLUSION

In divorce cases this Court has invariably held that the decision of the trial judge is to be respected unless it clearly appears that he has abused his discretion or manifestly misapplied relevant law to the substantial prejudice of the appealing party. This standard does not significantly vary where the court below has had the opportunity to reconsider its judgment upon a Rule 59 motion for a new trial or in the alternative to amend the judgment. It appropriately grants deference to the advantaged position of the trial judge who has received evidence presented on the issues and become acquainted

with the parties, their problems, and the circumstances relating to the issues.

Appellant's present dissatisfaction with the judgment of the trial court and its ruling denying her Rule 59 alternative motion is neither an appropriate nor sufficient ground for reversal of the trial court's orders. The court below appropriately applied relevant law on the issues and did not agree that appellant was justified in seeking to reopen its judgment. Nowhere does appellant isolate an instance in which Judge Rigtrup's judgment, and order denying her motion, prejudicially errs against her or is not supported by substantial evidence. The evidence clearly shows that appellant heard, understood, participated in, and agreed to be bound by the terms of her settlement agreement with the full benefit of legal representation and an opportunity to litigate any issues had she chosen to do so. The judgment of the court below which approved and incorporated appellant's settlement agreement cannot be legitimately analogized with that of a summary judgment where factual issues are in dispute and the question of whether there were disputed facts is on review. Here there were no disputed issues at trial. It was clearly within the trial court's discretion to determine whether appellant understood and agreed to the settlement agreement, and there was clearly substantial evidence that she did so.

Nor are there any compelling reasons shown by appellant to support an abrogation of her settlement agreement and the judgment of the trial court entered in conformity with that agreement. Appellant had unequivocally agreed to the distribution of the parties' assets and did not seek alimony. She should not now, upon settling all issues at trial, be accorded a second opportunity for trial simply because she has come to regret her decision.

In reconsidering its judgment, the court below properly exercised its broad discretion in denying appellant's Rule 59 motion. The evidence clearly shows there was no irregularity in the divorce proceedings, abuse of discretion, accident, surprise, or new (and previously unavailable) evidence which prevented appellant from proceeding through a fair trial had she chosen to do so, or which rendered the court's judgment unfair. Her valid settlement agreement was a sufficient basis upon which the trial court could enter its judgment and it clearly was not error in law to do so. Appellant simply failed to establish any grounds sufficient for a new trial or an amended judgment. The decision of the court below denying appellant's Rule 59 motion should be affirmed, and the judgment reflected by the parties' Decree of Divorce and based on their settlement agreement should be upheld.

There is no manifest injustice or clear abuse of discretion in this case.